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MDSM 
J. Colby Williams, Esq. (NSB #5549) 
CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS 
700 South Seventh Street 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Telephone: (702) 382-5222 
Facsimile:  (702) 382-0540 
jcw@campbellandwilliams.com 
 
-and- 
 
Elizabeth Brickfield, Esq. (NSB #6236) 
Joel Z. Schwarz, Esq. (NSB #9181) 
DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC 
8363 W. Sunset Road, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 
Telephone: (702) 550-4400  
Facsimile:  (844) 670-6009  
ebrickfield@dickinsonwright.com 
jschwarz@dickinsonwright.com 
Counsel for Respondents  
 

DISTRICT COURT 
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA 

 
 
 

In the Matter of: 
 

SCOTT LYLE GRAVES 
CANARELLI IRREVOCABLE 
TRUST, dated February 24, 1998. 

Case No:  P-13-078912-T 
Dept. No: 26 
 
DATE OF HEARING:  
TIME OF HEARING:   

 
MOTION TO DISMISS PETITIONER’S SUPPLEMENT TO PETITION TO 

SURCHARGE TRUSTEE AND FORMER TRUSTEES FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY 
DUTIES, CONSPIRACY AND AIDING AND ABETTING; PETITION FOR BREACH 
OF FIDUCIARY DUTY FOR FAILURE TO PROPERTY ACCOUNT; and PETITION 

FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES, ACCOUNTANT FEES AND COSTS  
  

 Frank Martin, Special Administrator of The Estate of Edward C. Lubbers, successor-in-

interest to Edward Lubbers (“Lubbers”), named in this matter individually and in his 

representative capacity as former Family Trustee and/or the Independent Trustee of the Scott 

Lyle Graves Canarelli Irrevocable Trust dated February 24, 1998 (the “Trust”), and Lawrence 

Canarelli (“Larry”) and Heidi Canarelli (“Heidi,” and together with Larry, the “Canarellis”), 

former Family Trustees of the Trust (collectively, “Respondents”), by and through their counsel, 

the law firms of Campbell & Williams and Dickinson Wright PLLC, hereby file this Motion to 

Case Number: P-13-078912-T

Electronically Filed
6/29/2018 4:45 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Dismiss Petitioner Scott Canarelli’s (“Scott”) Supplement to Petition to Surcharge Trustee and 

Former Trustees for Breach of Fiduciary Duties, Conspiracy and Aiding and Abetting; Petition 

for Breach of Fiduciary Duty for Failure to Properly Account; and Petition for an Award of 

Attorney Fees, Accountant Fees and Costs.1 

This Motion is based upon the following Memorandum of Points and Authorities, the 

papers and pleadings already on file herein, and any oral argument the Court may permit at the 

hearing of this matter.   

DATED this 29th day of June 2018. 

CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS  
J. Colby Williams (NSB#5549)
700 S. Seventh Street
Las Vegas, NV 89101
Telephone: (702) 382-5222
Facsimile:  (702) 382-0540
jcw@campbellandwilliams.com

and  

DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC 

Elizabeth Brickfield, Esq. (NSB #6236) 
Joel Z. Schwarz, Esq. (NSB #9181 
8363 W. Sunset Road, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 
Telephone: (702) 550-4400  
Facsimile:  (844) 670-6009 

Counsel for Respondents 

1 Respondents are filing this Motion pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5). As a result, Respondents’ Objections to 
Petitioner’s Supplement to Petition to Surcharge do not need to be filed unless the Court denies this Motion. See 
NRCP 12(a)(4); 5B Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 1346 (3d ed.) (interpreting Fed. R. Civ. P. 12(a)(4);  Talbot v. Sentinel 
Ins. Co., 2012 WL 1068763, at *5 (D. Nev. Mar. 29, 2012). Therefore, Respondents expressly reserve their right to 
file substantive Objections to Petitioner’s Supplement in the event this Motion is denied. For the purposes of not 
waiving the same, Respondents incorporate all defenses set forth in NRCP 12. 
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NOTICE OF MOTION 

TO: ALL PARTIES and their Attorney of Record: 

 Please take notice that the foregoing Motion to Dismiss Petitioner Scott Canarelli’s 

(“Scott”) Supplement to Petition to Surcharge Trustee and Former Trustees for Breach of 

Fiduciary Duties, Conspiracy and Aiding and Abetting; Petition for Breach of Fiduciary Duty for 

Failure to Properly Account; and Petition for an Award of Attorney Fees, Accountant Fees and 

Costs will be heard before this Court in Courtroom 10D of the Regional Justice Center, 200 

Lewis Avenue, Las Vegas, NV 89155, on the _____ day of ________________________, 2018, 

at the hour of ______________, or as soon thereafter as counsel may be heard.  

 Dated this 29th day of June, 2018. 

CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS  
J. Colby Williams (NSB#5549) 
700 S. Seventh Street 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
Telephone: (702) 382-5222 
Facsimile:  (702) 382-0540 
jcw@campbellandwilliams.com  
 
and  
 
DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC  

   
Elizabeth Brickfield, Esq. (NSB #6236) 
Joel Z. Schwarz, Esq. (NSB #9181 
8363 W. Sunset Road, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 
Telephone: (702) 550-4400  
Facsimile:  (844) 670-6009 
ebrickfield@dickinsonwright.com 
jschwarz@dickinsonwright.com 
Counsel for Respondents 
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MEMORANDUM OF POINTS AND AUTHORITIES 

I. INTRODUCTION

The Court should dismiss Petitioner’s Supplement to Petition to Surcharge and the Errata 

thereto for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. Petitioner’s Supplement was 

filed nearly a year after the Petition to Surcharge was filed and contains entirely new fraud-based 

claims that center on events that occurred more than four years ago. Although Petitioner claims 

the Supplement is warranted based on newly discovered evidence, Petitioner’s own allegations 

demonstrate that Petitioner was aware of, or should have been aware of, the factual basis for his 

claims years before the original Petition to Surcharge was filed. Petitioner’s Supplement should 

be dismissed because it fails to plead fraud with particularity and is otherwise substantively 

deficient.  

First, Petitioner’s fraud claims should all be dismissed because they are not pled with 

particularity as required by NRCP 9(b). Petitioner’s Supplement consists of conclusory assertions 

of fraud. However, Petitioner completely fails to identify the alleged misrepresentations at issue, 

why they are allegedly false, the circumstances under which they were made, which Respondents 

made which alleged misrepresentations, and the role or capacity of each Respondent in the 

allegedly fraudulent conduct. Petitioner’s generic assertions of fraud provide textbook examples 

of the types of non-specific boilerplate allegations that courts routinely dismiss for failure to 

comply with the heightened pleading standards required for fraud claims. 

Second, as an independent basis to dismiss the Supplement, Petitioner has failed to state a 

claim upon which relief can be granted. In general, Petitioner has failed to allege any 

misrepresentation or fraudulent omission, that Respondents were aware of the alleged 

misrepresentation, that Petitioner justifiably relied upon such misrepresentation, or that Petitioner 

was damaged as a result of the misrepresentation. Because Petitioner’s Supplement fails to 

identify any actionable fraud, the Court should dismiss the Supplement without leave to amend. 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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II. FACTUAL AND PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND 

A. The Parties  

 Larry and Heidi founded American West Home Building Group, a significant residential 

home building and land development group in Southern Nevada. (Objection to Petition to 

Surcharge ¶ 1.) They have four children: Scott, Stacia, Jeffrey and Alyssa. Id.  

 Over the years, the Canarellis employed sophisticated estate planners to assist them in 

gifting and transferring certain assets, including capital intensive and illiquid ownership interests 

in certain investment entities, to their children. Id. ¶ 2. These assets generally consisted of equity 

shares of Nevada limited-liability companies and Nevada corporations (the “Family Entities”). Id. 

¶ 3. By design and necessity, the Family Entities held illiquid, long-term real property 

investments that often did not generate regular amounts of cash returns. Id. ¶ 4. 

 As part of the Canarellis’ business and estate planning, their heirs, including Petitioner 

Scott Canarelli (hereinafter “Petitioner” or “Scott”), created their own irrevocable trusts to hold 

the illiquid interests in the Family Entities gifted to them by their parents. Id. ¶ 5. Scott’s Trust 

was established on February 24, 1998. (Petition to Surcharge ¶ 1.) Petitioner settled the Trust with 

assets previously gifted to him by his parents, Larry and Heidi, for the benefit of Petitioner and 

his family. Id.  

 Scott appointed Larry and Heidi as the initial “Family Trustees.” Id. ¶ 3. In or about 2005, 

Lubbers, an attorney and Canarelli family adviser who had a close personal relationship with 

Scott for years, was appointed as the Independent Trustee. Id. In 2013, the Canarellis resigned as 

Family Trustees of the Trust and, as authorized by the Trust, jointly appointed Lubbers as their 

successor Family Trustee. (Objection to Petition to Surcharge ¶ 13.) Lubbers was appointed at 

Scott’s request. Id. At that time, Lubbers became the sole Family Trustee of the Trust. See id. 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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B. Scott’s Petition to Surcharge2 

 On June 27, 2017, Petitioner filed his Petition to Surcharge Trustee and Former Trustees 

and for additional relief (the “Petition to Surcharge”). The Petition to Surcharge seeks to 

surcharge Respondents for claimed losses and asserts civil claims for relief for: (1) breach of 

fiduciary duty; (2) breach of contract; (3) constructive trust; (4) civil conspiracy; and (5) 

attorneys’ fees and costs. See generally (Petition to Surcharge.) 

 The dispute in this action relates to an agreement (the “Purchase Agreement”) that was 

entered into on or about May 31, 2013. See generally (Petition to Surcharge.) The Purchase 

Agreement sold the Trust’s interests in the Family Entities to (1) SJA Acquisitions, LLC (“SJA”), 

a Nevada limited liability company; and (2) to irrevocable trusts established for the benefit of 

Petitioner’s three siblings (the “Siblings’ Trusts”). Id. at 19. Petitioner alleges the express purpose 

of the Purchase Agreement was to provide for Petitioner’s cash needs. Id. ¶ 26. 

 Among other things, Petitioner alleges that his parents (who provided him with the Trust’s 

assets and were former trustees) and Lubbers breached their fiduciary duties and violated Nevada 

law by selling the Trust’s entire interests in the Family Entities. Id. ¶¶ 69-77. Petitioner alleges 

that Respondents improperly served as fiduciaries of both the Trust and the Siblings’ Trusts, 

which purchased some of the Trust’s assets. Id. ¶¶ 69-72. Petitioner alleges that this benefited the 

purchasing entities to the detriment of the Trust because the sale occurred at a time when the 

assets had a low value. Id. ¶ 75. 

 Petitioner further alleges that neither the Siblings’ Trusts nor SJA Acquisitions made the 

required annual principal payments for 2014 through April, 2017. Id. ¶ 82. Petitioner alleges that 

he was informed that Lubbers agreed with his parents to “suspend” the principal payments that 

were due, which somehow demonstrates breach of fiduciary duty and conspiracy to financially 

harm Petitioner. Id. ¶ 83. According to Petitioner, the failure to make payments constitutes a 

default, which compels the Trustee to take action to protect the interests of the Trust. Id. ¶ 88. In 

                                                 
2 Respondents are citing to Scott’s Petition to Surcharge solely to summarize the allegations made by Scott. 
Respondents’ vehemently dispute Scott’s factual allegations and will demonstrate their falsity at the appropriate 
time. 
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addition, Petitioner claims he is entitled to a constructive trust to recoup any benefit realized by 

SJA Acquisitions and the Siblings’ Trusts, as well as any other entities “owned by Larry, Heidi, 

and/or the Siblings Trust,” from purchasing additional real property with funds that were 

allegedly owed to the Trust. Id. ¶ 91-92.3 

 Next, Petitioner claims that his parents and Lubbers failed to provide accurate accountings 

for the Trust. Id. ¶¶ 94-98. Essentially, Petitioner avers that it took Respondents too long to 

provide accountings and that the accountings that were provided could not be reconciled with the 

Trust’s tax returns or prior audited financial statements. Id. ¶ 95. 

 Based on the alleged breaches of fiduciary duties, Petitioner asks the Court to enter an 

order requiring Lubbers to disgorge any compensation he received as a trustee of the Trust. Id. ¶¶ 

111-112. And, Petitioner seeks an award of his attorneys’ fees and costs. Id. ¶ 113-114. 

C. Scott’s Supplement to Petition to Surcharge 

 On May 18, 2018, nearly a year after the Petition to Surcharge was filed (and nearly five 

years after Scott filed a Petition to Assume Jurisdiction Over the Trust), Petitioner filed a 

Supplement to Petition to Surcharge without first obtaining leave of this Court. See (Supplement 

to Petition to Surcharge.)4 Petitioner claims that he has discovered new evidence that supposedly 

shows that Respondents acted in concert and conspired to defraud and financially harm Petitioner 

by: (1) fraudulently misrepresenting the “purpose” of the sale; (2) intentionally making the 

Purchase Agreement effective as of March 31, 2013, to financially harm Petitioner and his 

children; and (3) intentionally selling the assets in 2013 when the real estate market was 

recovering from the recession so as to financially harm Petitioner and his children. Based on these 

                                                 
3  At a hearing on May 30, 2018, the Court granted Respondents’ Partial Summary Judgment on Petitioner’s First 
Prayer for Relief, which encompasses certain of the allegations set forth in this paragraph, on grounds the requests 
sought therein were either satisfied or no longer necessary/able to be performed.  See Hr’g Tr. dated May 30, 2018 at 
50-54 (on file). 

4 NRCP 15(d) provides that the Court may allow a supplemental pleading only upon the motion of a party and 
reasonable notice. Pursuant to NRCP 1 and NRS 155.180, the Nevada Rules of Civil Procedure apply to probate 
proceedings. See also EDCR 2.01. Indeed, the Nevada Supreme Court has previously applied the Nevada Rules of 
Civil Procedure in an action involving a petition to surcharge the trustee for breach of fiduciary duty. In re Harrison 
Living Tr., 121 Nev. 217, 218, 112 P.3d 1058, 1058–59 (2005). Because Petitioner did not obtain leave of the Court 
as required by NRCP 15 before filing the Supplement, Respondents maintain their position that the Supplement is a 
fugitive document. 
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three theories, the Supplement purports to add additional claims for (1) fraud; (2) fraudulent 

inducement; (3) constructive fraud; and (4) negligent misrepresentation. Id. The Supplement 

includes entirely new theories of damages and also seeks punitive damages.5 Id. 

On May 25, 2018, Petitioner filed, again without leave of the Court, an Errata to 

Supplement to Petition to Surcharge. The “Errata” purports to replace two paragraphs of the 

Supplement to Petition to Surcharge with entirely new and different allegations.  

III. LEGAL STANDARD

Pursuant to NRCP 12(b)(5), a pleading may be dismissed “for failure of the pleading to 

state a claim upon which relief can be granted.” When considering a motion to dismiss, the 

district court must construe the pleading “liberally and draw every fair inference in favor of the 

plaintiff.” Cohen v. Mirage Resorts, Inc., 119 Nev. 1, 22, 62 P.3d 720, 734 (2003) (citing Capital 

Mortgage Holding v. Hahn, 101 Nev. 314, 315, 705 P.2d 126, 126 (1985)). A pleading should be 

dismissed “only if it appears beyond a doubt that it could prove no set of facts, which, if true, 

would entitle it to relief.” Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 

670, 672 (2008) (citations omitted).  

IV. DISCUSSION

Petitioner’s Supplement seeks to change the entire basis for the Petition to Surcharge by 

adding entirely new fraud-based claims for relief. Specifically, Petitioner first seeks to add three 

new fraud-based claims arising from the following: (1) Respondents’ alleged non-disclosure of 

the Purchase Agreement, (Supplement ¶ 18); (2) recitals contained within the Purchase 

Agreement itself that indicate the purpose of the Purchase Agreement was to make cash available 

to Petitioner,6 id. ¶¶ 20, 25; and (3) the fact that the Purchase Agreement itself states that it is 

being entered into on May 31, 2013, with an effective date of March 31, 2013, id. ¶¶ 26, 28 and 

(Purchase Agreement at 1, Exhibit 4 to Petition to Surcharge). In addition, Petitioner seeks to add 

two additional fraud-based claims that arise out of an independent valuation of the Trust’s assets 

5 To date, Petitioner has failed to supplement his NRCP 16.1 Disclosures with the computation of damages 
associated with these newly-asserted claims. 

6 Notably, the Purchase Agreement identifies many reasons for the sale.  (Purchase Agreement at 1-2, Exhibit 4 to 
Petition to Surcharge).  
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that was completed by Western Valuation Advisers on or about December 31, 2014. (Supplement 

¶¶ 29–39, 40–41); (Valuation, Exhibit 12 to Petition to Surcharge).  

 The Court should dismiss all of Petitioner’s fraud-based claims for two independent 

reasons. First, Petitioner’s Supplement fails to plead fraud with particularity as required by NRCP 

9(b). “The circumstances that must be detailed include averments to the time, the place, the 

identity of the parties involved, and the nature of the fraud or mistake.” Brown v. Kellar, 97 Nev. 

582, 583–84, 636 P.2d 874, 874 (1981) (citations omitted). In addition, if the lawsuit involves 

multiple defendants, a plaintiff must also “identify the role of each defendant in the alleged 

fraudulent scheme” and the capacity each acted in. Oaktree Capital Mgmt., L.P. v. KPMG, 963 F. 

Supp. 2d 1064, 1074 (D. Nev. 2013) (citing Swartz v. KPMG LLP, 476 F.3d 756, 764 (9th Cir. 

2007)); Davenport v. GMAC Mortg., No. 56697, 2013 WL 5437119, at *3 (Nev. Sept. 25, 2013) 

(unpublished) (relying on Swartz, 476 F.3d at 764-65); Al-Fouzan v. Activecare, Inc., 2016 WL 

1092495, at *4 (D. Utah Mar. 21, 2016) (dismissing fraud allegations where the plaintiff failed to 

plead the capacity each defendant acted in). 

 The heightened pleading requirement for fraud cases serves several important purposes, 

including: “(1) providing defendants with adequate notice so they are able to defend the charge 

and deter plaintiffs from filing complaints as a pretext for the discovery of unknown wrongs; (2) 

to protect those whose reputation would be harmed as a result of being subject to fraud charges; 

and (3) to prohibit [ ] plaintiff[s] from unilaterally imposing upon the court, the parties and 

society enormous social and economic costs absent some factual basis.” Oaktree Capital Mgmt., 

L.P., 963 F. Supp. 2d at 1074 (citations and internal quotations omitted). 

 In addition, even accepting Petitioner’s sparse allegations as true for purposes of this 

Motion only, Petitioner’s fraud claims fail as a matter of law. Respondents will address each of 

the new fraud claims asserted by Petitioner ad seriatim.  

/// 

/// 

/// 

/// 
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A. The Supplement Fails to State a Viable Claim for Fraud Based on the Alleged

Concealment of the Purchase Agreement 

The Supplement first attempts to add a claim for fraudulent concealment or omission 

based upon Respondents’ alleged failure to disclose the Purchase Agreement to Petitioner. 

(Supplement to Petition to Surcharge ¶¶ 12-19.) Specifically, Petitioner alleges, in pertinent part, 

as follows: 

Respondents’ failure to disclose to Petitioner that Respondents were selling, and 
in fact, executing the Purchase Agreement, all of the business interests in the 
Trust at such time to the Siblings Trusts and an entity created by them constitutes 
fraud and/or fraudulent concealment. Specifically, as Petitioners’ fiduciary and 
Family Trustees of the SCIT, Respondents owed an affirmative duty to disclose 
the sale to Petitioner, namely the Purchase Agreement which was a material fact. 
Respondents’ concealment of the Purchase Agreement was intentional and, if 
Petitioner would have been aware of the materials [sic] facts, would not have 
acquiesced in the sale and otherwise would have objected to the sale. 
Respondents’ concealment has caused damage to the SCIT. Consequently, 
Respondents are jointly and severally liable for fraud, fraudulent concealment, 
negligent misrepresentation, constructive fraud, breach of fiduciary duty and 
conspiracy and otherwise aiding and abetting in the foregoing conduct. 

Id. ¶ 18. Petitioner claims that he has somehow been damaged from this alleged non-disclosure 

and seeks compensatory and punitive damages. Id. ¶¶ 18-19. 

As an initial matter, Petitioner has failed to plead his claim with particularity. Petitioner 

has not alleged the time or place the disclosure allegedly should have occurred, the basis for the 

alleged duty to disclose, how Petitioner justifiably relied on the lack of disclosure, the role each 

Respondent had in the alleged fraud and in what capacity they were acting. See Brown, 97 Nev. at 

583-84. As just one example, Petitioner never specifies what, if any, alleged role Heidi Canarelli

had in the Purchase Agreement transaction. Petitioner routinely refers to “Respondents” as a

group and fails to identify which Respondent and in what capacity, e.g. as Family Trustee of

Petitioner’s Trust or some other capacity. Petitioner’s claim should be dismissed for this reason

alone.

Moreover, even absent this procedural defect, Petitioner’s claim fails as a matter of law. 

Petitioner’s fraud claim is based on the alleged non-disclosure of information. Because Petitioner 

does not allege any affirmative misrepresentation, see Barmettler v. Reno Air, Inc., 114 Nev. 441, 
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447, 956 P.2d 1382, 1386 (1998) (a claim of fraudulent or intentional misrepresentation requires a 

defendant to make a false representation), this claim can only be analyzed as one of fraudulent 

concealment, fraud by nondisclosure or constructive fraud.  

 A claim for fraudulent concealment or fraudulent non-disclosure involves the following 

essential elements: (1) The defendant must have concealed or suppressed a material fact; (2) The 

defendant must have been under a duty to disclose the fact to the plaintiff; (3) The defendant must 

have intentionally concealed or suppressed the fact with the intent to defraud the plaintiff, that is, 

he must have concealed or suppressed the fact for the purpose of inducing the plaintiff to act 

differently than he would if he knew the fact; (4) The plaintiff must have been unaware of the fact 

and would not have acted as he did if he had known of the concealed or suppressed fact; (5) And, 

finally, as a result of the concealment or suppression of the fact, the plaintiff must have sustained 

damages. Nevada Power Co. v. Monsanto Co., 891 F. Supp. 1406, 1415 (D. Nev. 1995) (citing 

Nevada Jury Instruction 9.03); Phillips v. Homestake Consol. Placer Mines Co., 51 Nev. 226, 273 

P. 657, 658 (1929). 

 Nevada law does not mandate any specific requirement for a trustee to seek prior 

permission from the beneficiaries of the trust regarding every action taken within the scope of the 

trustee’s authority. NRS 164.700 et seq.; see also Restatement (Second) of Trusts § 173, comment 

d (1959); Matter of Frei Irrevocable Tr. Dated Oct. 29, 1996, 133 Nev. 8, 390 P.3d 646, 650 

(2017) (relying, in part, on the Restatement (Second) of Trusts). Moreover, even if such a default 

rule existed, Scott has waived, by virtue of the Trust Agreement, any obligation the trustee 

otherwise would have had to disclose the Purchase Agreement prior to the time of sale. 

 In accordance with the plain terms of the Trust Agreement, there is no tenable argument 

that Respondents concealed or suppressed a material fact because the trustees had sole and 

absolute discretion to enter into the Purchase Agreement. The Trust Agreement provides, in part, 

that “where the Trustees are granted discretion, their discretion shall be sole and absolute and 

any action taken or refrained from by them in good faith shall be binding and conclusive upon all 

persons and corporations interested therein.” (Trust Agreement at 6.01, Exhibit 1 to the Petition to 

Surcharge, on file herein) (emphasis added). The Trust Agreement provides the trustees with 
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broad discretionary powers “with respect to any and all property” held by the Trust. Id. at Article 

VII. Among other powers, the trustees have the discretionary power to “manage, control, sell at 

public or private sale for cash or on credit, either with or without notice,” any or all of the Trust 

property.7  Id. at Article VII(G). Indeed, the Trust Agreement provides that “[t]he Trustees may 

freely act under all or any of the powers herein granted to it in all matters concerning the trust 

estate. . . .” Id. at Article VII(X). And, with respect to Trust investments, the Grantor gave the 

trustees “sole discretion in determining what constitutes acceptable risk and what constitutes 

proper investment strategy.” Id. at Article VII (describing the trustees’ power with respect to 

Trust investments) (emphasis added).  

 As a result of the plain terms of the Trust Agreement, Respondents had “sole and 

absolute” discretion regarding the Trust’s investments and whether to sell any or all of Trust’s 

assets. As such, the fact that Respondent Lubbers (or even Respondents Larry or Heidi during 

their incumbency and capacity as Family Trustees) was selling assets held by the Trust and 

executing the Purchase Agreement was not a material fact that was required to be 

contemporaneously disclosed to Scott. Although Scott claims that he “would not have acquiesced 

in the sale and otherwise would have objected to the sale,” (Supplement ¶ 18), there was simply 

no requirement for Scott to acquiesce to the Purchase Agreement. Because Scott expressly 

delegated to the trustee the sole and absolute power to manage investments and dispose of assets, 

Scott cannot now assert a claim for fraud based on concealment or omission because no material 

facts was concealed. See Monsanto Co., 891 F. Supp. at 1415. 

 Moreover, Respondents did not have any duty to contemporaneously disclose the 

Purchase Agreement to Scott. Pursuant to the express terms of the Trust Agreement, the trustees 

were only required to “furnish annually to the current income beneficiary or beneficiaries a 

                                                 
7 The Trust Agreement expressly modifies the prudent person rule. (Trust Agreement at the last page of Article VII, 
Exhibit 1 to the Petition to Surcharge, on file herein). As such, the terms of the Trust Agreement override the 
Prudent Investor Act as permitted by Nevada law. See NRS 164.710. Specifically, pursuant to the Trust Agreement, 
the Trustee is not prohibited from making any investment he or she deems appropriate. Id. “Accordingly, the 
Trustees shall not be liable for any loss in value of an investment merely because of the nature of the investment or 
the degree of risk presented by the investment. . . .” Instead, Petitioner is required to present “affirmative evidence” 
that the trustee was negligent. Id. In this case, Petitioner has not and cannot present such evidence.  
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complete inventory of the properties then comprising the trust estate, together with an 

accounting showing all receipts and disbursements of principal and income of the trust estate.” 

(Trust Agreement at 6.15, Exhibit 1 to the Petition to Surcharge on file herein) (emphasis added). 

By referring to the assets “then comprising the trust estate,” the Trust Agreement specifically 

contemplates that Trust assets may be different from year to year. Id. (emphasis added). Thus, 

Respondents were only obligated to provide Scott with a complete inventory of Trust property on 

an annual basis. 

 In this case, neither Scott’s original Petition to Surcharge nor his Supplement articulates 

the circumstances under which he allegedly learned about the Purchase Agreement. Instead, 

Scott’s Petition to Surcharge merely alleges that “[i]t was not until months after the Purchase 

Agreement was executed that Petitioner learned of its existence.” (Petition to Surcharge ¶ 27.) 

However, Scott’s new self-serving allegations contradict his prior admissions. Scott’s September 

30, 2013, Petition to Assume Jurisdiction Over the Trust specifically states that Scott learned 

about the sale of the Trust’s assets “on or about June 18, 2013.” (Petition to Assume Jurisdiction 

Over the Trust at 11 ¶ C.5, on file herein) Regardless, the Purchase Agreement was executed on 

May 31, 2013. (Supplement to Petition to Surcharge ¶ 21.) Based on Scott’s own allegations, he 

learned of the Purchase Agreement within eighteen days of its execution and well within the time 

frame Scott established in the Trust Agreement for furnishing the annual inventory. And, even 

after learning about the purchase, he waited months to take action by filing his Petition to Assume 

Jurisdiction over the Trust and obtain a valuation as provided for in the Purchase Agreement. 

 To the extent Scott attempts to frame this claim as one for constructive fraud, his 

allegations equally fail as a matter of law. “Constructive fraud is the breach of some legal or 

equitable duty which, irrespective of moral guilt, the law declares fraudulent because of its 

tendency to deceive others or to violate confidence.” Long v. Towne, 98 Nev. 11, 13, 639 P.2d 

528, 529–30 (1982) (citations omitted). “The elements of constructive fraud are the same as those 

for actual fraud, except that the element of scienter is replaced by a fiduciary or confidential 

relationship between the parties.” Wilson v. Dantas, 746 F.3d 530, 536 n.2 (2d Cir. 2014) 

(quoting Klembczyk v. Di Nardo, 265 A.D.2d 934, 705 N.Y.S.2d 743, 744 (4th Dep’t 1999)); 37 
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Am. Jur. 2d Fraudulent Conveyances and Transfers § 7 (“Unlike actual fraud, constructive fraud 

is essentially unconcerned with intent and instead focuses upon economic effect and involves an 

analysis of objective factors.”); Black’s Law Dictionary (10th ed. 2014) (defining “constructive 

fraud as “[u]nintentional deception or misrepresentation that causes injury to another). Just like 

actual fraud, constructive fraud requires an affirmative misrepresentation or an omission under 

circumstances where there was a duty to speak. See Mackintosh v. Jack Matthews & Co., 109 

Nev. 628, 635, 855 P.2d 549, 553 (1993). 

 Thus, any claim for constructive fraud fails for the same reason as the claim for actual 

fraud. Scott simply cannot identify any improper concealment or omission of a material fact that 

Respondents had a duty to disclose. Based on Scott’s own allegations, his fraud-based claims fail 

as a matter of law. 

B. The Supplement Fails to State a Viable Claim for Fraud Based on the Alleged 
 Fraudulent Misrepresentation of the Rationale for Entering into the Purchase 
 Agreement 
 
 Next, the Supplement alleges that certain recitals in the Purchase Agreement fraudulently 

misrepresent the purpose of the Purchase Agreement. (Supplement ¶¶ 20-25.) Specifically, 

Petitioner alleges the express purpose of the Purchase Agreement was to be able to provide funds 

for Scott to meet his cash needs.8 Petitioner claims that such representations somehow constitute 

fraud that caused harm to Petitioner. Petitioner’s claim is nonsensical and belied by Petitioner’s 

own allegations. Because Petitioner alleges he was not aware of the Purchase Agreement at the 

time it was entered into, it would be impossible for him to have relied on any statements in the 

Purchase Agreement to his detriment. Petitioner’s allegations (even assuming their truth) do not 

constitute fraud as a matter of law because Petitioner did not take, and was not entitled to take, 

any actions based on such representations. 

 Under Nevada law, Petitioner has the burden to allege each of the following elements for a 

claim of fraudulent misrepresentation: (1) a false representation made by Respondents; (2) 

Respondents’ knowledge or belief that their representation was false or that Respondents had an 

                                                 
8 Again, Petitioner ignores the fact the Purchase Agreement sets forth multiple reasons for the sale. (Purchase 
Agreement at 1-2, Exhibit 4 to Petition to Surcharge). 
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insufficient basis of information for making the representation; (3) Respondents intended to 

induce Petitioner to act or refrain from acting upon the misrepresentation; and (4) damage to the 

Petitioner as a result of relying on the misrepresentation. Barmettler, 114 Nev. at 447, 956 P.2d at 

1386. 

 Here, Petitioner takes issue with the following three recitals from the Purchase 

Agreement: 

D. Pursuant to the Credit Agreement, Seller, along with the other borrowers 
(excluding Lawrence D. Canarelli and Heidi Canarelli), is precluded from 
receiving any cash distributions from any of the LLCs or the Corporations, 
including any distribution that would be attributable to Seller’s ownership 
interests in the LLCs and the Corporations. Lawrence D. Canarelli and Heidi 
Canarelli are entitled to limited distributions. 
 
H. Scott has indicated to the Trustee certain needs that he has for available 
funds to provide for his family and certain concerns that he has in regard to 
management of Seller by the prior Family Trustee. 
 
I. The Trustee and the Independent Trustee believe that the restriction on 
distributions currently in effect under the Credit Agreement, and likely to be in 
effect under a new credit agreement, will make providing cash to Scott difficult, 
and to make cash available would risk a default under the Credit Agreement. 
 

(Supplement ¶ 20) (citing Purchase Agreement at Recitals D, H. and I, Exhibit 4 to Petition to 

Surcharge).  

 Although Petitioner claims these statements are false (a position which Respondents 

vehemently dispute), Petitioner has not and cannot identify how he relied upon any such 

statements or how he was damaged by such statements. Instead, Petitioner merely concludes in a 

summary manner that he was damaged by “fraud.” These conclusory allegations fail to satisfy the 

particularity required by NRCP 9(b). 

 Moreover, Petitioner’s allegations do not constitute fraud as a matter of law. By 

Petitioner’s own allegations, he did not rely on the recitals in the Purchase Agreement. 

(Petition to Surcharge ¶ 27) If Petitioner did not even know about the Purchase Agreement until 

after it was entered, he necessarily could not have relied upon its recitals to his detriment. See 

Blanchard v. Blanchard, 108 Nev. 908, 911, 839 P.2d 1320, 1322 (1992) (justifiable reliance does 

not exist when the plaintiff was unaware of the alleged fraud at the time he acted) (quoting Lubbe 
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v. Barba, 91 Nev. 596, 600, 540 P.2d 115, 118 (1975)). Lack of justifiable reliance bars a claim

for fraud. See Collins v. Burns, 103 Nev. 394, 397, 741 P.2d 819, 821 (1987) (citing Pacific

Maxon, Inc. v. Wilson, 96 Nev. 867, 870, 619 P.2d 816, 818 (1980)).

Moreover, as discussed in detail above, Scott gave the trustees of the Trust the sole and 

absolute discretion to enter into the Purchase Agreement. As such, the recitals in the Purchase 

Agreement did not and could not have harmed Petitioner in any way. Although Petitioner claims 

his financial interests were harmed by entering into the Purchase Agreement, such allegations do 

not constitute fraud, constructive or otherwise, as a matter of well-settled Nevada law. 

C. The Supplement Fails to State a Viable Claim for Fraud Based on the Effective Date
of the Purchase Agreement 

Petitioner next argues that “Respondents further intended to cause harm to Petitioner by 

intentionally making the Purchase Agreement effective as March 31, 2013, despite the fact that it 

was purportedly signed May 31, 2013.” (Supplement ¶¶ 26-28.) According to Petitioner, the 

decision to make the effective date of the Purchase Agreement March 31, 2013, constitutes an 

intent to defraud Petitioner. Id. ¶ 28.9 However, like the other fraud allegations, Petitioner has 

failed to plead with the requisite particularity, including the time, place and role each Respondent 

allegedly had in the fraud. The Supplement also fails to identify any misrepresentation or 

justifiable reliance. In addition to failing to satisfy the requirements of NRCP 9(b), Petitioner’s 

claim fails to state a claim upon which relief can be granted. See NRCP 12(b)(5). 

First, Petitioner has failed to plead any fraudulent misrepresentation or omission. The first 

page of the Purchase Agreement states: “This agreement . . . is entered into this 31 day of May, 

2013, and effective March 31, 2013. . . .” (Purchase Agreement at 1, Exhibit 4 to Petition to 

Surcharge.)  Petitioner does not allege that the Purchase Agreement was not actually entered into 

on May 31, 2013. And, the Purchase Agreement expressly states that it is effective March 31, 

2013. Thus, Petitioner’s claim fails as a matter of law because Petitioner cannot identify any 

9 As an aside, the purpose of the “effective date” was to identify an initial asset valuation date. (Objection to Petition 
to Surcharge ¶ 56, on file herein). The effective date had no impact upon the legal rights and duties of the parties 
who entered into the Purchase Agreement. Indeed, it is common for asset purchase agreements to include an 
execution date and an effective date. 
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misrepresentation or omission, let alone a fraudulent one. Petitioner’s claim should be dismissed 

for this reason alone. 

 Second, Petitioner has not and cannot plead justifiable reliance. As discussed above, the 

trustees had the sole and absolute discretion to sell the Trust’s assets by entering into the Purchase 

Agreement. See (Trust Agreement at 6.01, Article VII(G), (X), Exhibit 1 to the Petition to 

Surcharge, on file herein). This discretion necessarily included the terms upon which the assets 

would be sold. Id. at Article VII(R) (giving the trustees the power “[t]o do all such acts, take all 

such proceedings and exercise all such rights and privilege, although neither specifically 

hereinabove mentioned nor conferred upon it by law, with relation to such property as if the 

absolute owner thereof and in connection therewith to enter into any covenants or agreements 

binding the trust estate.”). Because the trustee had sole and absolute discretion to sell the Trust’s 

assets on terms he saw fit, Scott did not and could not have justifiably relied upon the effective 

date of the Purchase Agreement. Although Scott may challenge Respondent’s decision, the fraud 

claim is frivolous because there simply is no misrepresentation or omission at issue. 

 Moreover, Petitioner’s allegations are entirely illogical. The first page of the Purchase 

Agreement expressly identifies that the Purchase Agreement is entered into as of May 31, 2013, 

with an effective date of March 31, 2013. (Purchase Agreement at 1, Exhibit 4 to Petition to 

Surcharge.) The number “31” and the month of “May” are handwritten on the Purchase 

Agreement. If Respondents had truly intended to misrepresent the Purchase Agreement to 

Petitioner, they could have simply made the actual date and the effective date identical. 

Petitioner’s attempt to characterize these express statements as “fraud” demonstrates Petitioner’s 

fundamental misunderstanding of what constitutes fraud under Nevada law. 

/// 

/// 

///  

/// 

/// 

/// 
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D. The Supplement Fails to State a Viable Claim for Fraud Based on Information Sent 
 to Western Valuation Advisors  
 

 Petitioner next claims that he was defrauded because the financial information relied upon 

by Western Valuation Advisors is inconsistent with other financial information Petitioner 

received during discovery. (Supplement ¶¶ 29-39.) However, aside from Petitioner’s conclusion 

of fraud, Petitioner has not identified a single misrepresentation that was made to Western 

Valuation Advisors, when the misrepresentation occurred, which party allegedly made the 

misrepresentation, in what capacity such party was acting, or why the representation was 

allegedly false. Instead, Petitioner merely alleges that there are “discrepancies” in financial 

documents that have been disclosed relating to the Purchased Entities. Id. ¶ 32. Petitioner does not 

even allege that the documents containing the purported discrepancies were relied upon by 

Western Valuation Advisors. Petitioner’s inability to reconcile certain financial information falls 

woefully short of pleading actionable fraud based on alleged misrepresentations of financial 

information. Because Petitioner has not identified any misrepresentation made to Western 

Valuation Advisors, his fraud claim fails as a matter of settled Nevada law. 

 Petitioner alleges that in late 2013, a court proceeding was commenced for the purpose of 

appointing an independent expert to evaluate the purchase price under the Purchase Agreement. 

(Supplement ¶ 29.) The parties later stipulated that the Trust would retain Stephen Nicolatus of 

Western Valuation Advisors to conduct a valuation. Id. Petitioner alleges that “[d]espite such 

stipulation, however, both parties further stipulated to reserve their respective positions as to the 

determination of the Trustees’ actions.” Id. Petitioner claims that Mr. Nicolatus’s valuation was 

never contemplated to be binding on the parties. Id. ¶ 31. 

 Petitioner generally alleges that information Petitioner received during discovery is 

contradictory and inconsistent. Id. ¶¶ 32-35. Specifically, Petitioner alleges that during discovery 

he requested information in order to determine the accuracy of the records provided to Mr. 

Nicolatus. Id. ¶ 32. Petitioner then asserts that he received a trial balance for 2012, 2013 and 

partial 2013. Id. Petitioner claims (incorrectly) that these documents contradict one another and 

that they cannot be reconciled with other financial information. Id. ¶ 32-33. Based on the 
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purported discrepancies, Petitioner alleges that Respondents perpetrated some unknown fraud. Id. 

¶ 38.  

 As a threshold matter, Petitioner’s claim should be dismissed because it does not even 

attempt to comply with the particularity requirements of NRCP 9(b). Pursuant to NRCP 9(b), an 

allegation of fraud must state the specific content of the false representations at issue. Risinger v. 

SOC LLC, 936 F. Supp. 2d 1235, 1242 (D. Nev. 2013) (citing Sanford v. MemberWorks, Inc., 625 

F.3d 550, 558 (9th Cir. 2010)); W. Highland Mortg. Fund I, LLC v. Tahoe Reg’l Planning 

Agency, 993 F. Supp. 2d 1288, 1293 (D. Nev. 2014) (concluding a fraud claim is deficient where 

it failed to identify the substance of the alleged fraud). And, Petitioner is required to plead the 

time, the place, the identity of the parties involved, and the nature of the alleged fraud. Brown, 97 

Nev. at 583-84, 636 P.2d at 874. 

 Here, Petitioner does not identity any false information that was provided to, and relied 

upon by, Western Valuation Advisors. Petitioner does not explain who provided the information, 

why the information was allegedly false, or what impact the alleged misrepresentation had on the 

valuation. In other words, Petitioner is merely speculating that fraud must have occurred because 

Petitioner himself cannot confirm the accuracy of the Western Financial Advisors valuation based 

on certain trial balances that were produced during discovery. Importantly, Petitioner does not 

even allege that Western Financial Advisors relied upon these trial balances in conducting its 

valuation. Petitioner’s allegations are grossly deficient to state a claim for fraud under NRCP 

9(b). 

 More importantly, Petitioner’s fraud claim fails as a matter of law. It is axiomatic that a 

claim for fraud requires Petitioner to identify a false representation. See Barmettler, 114 Nev. at 

447, 956 P.2d at 1386. Here, Petitioner concludes that Respondents have engaged in “fraud” with 

respect to the financial information provided to Western Valuation Advisors. (Supplement to 

Petition to Surcharge ¶¶ 38). However, Petitioner has not alleged that a single false statement was 

provided to Western Valuation Advisors. Instead, Petitioner merely alleges that certain trial 

balances obtained by Petitioner during discovery are irreconcilable and inconsistent.  

/// 
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(Supplement to Petition to Surcharge ¶¶ 32 - 35).  Petitioner does not even allege that the trial 

balances at issue were ever provided to Western Valuation Advisors. 

 Petitioner has also failed to demonstrate that Western Valuation Advisors relied on any 

alleged false statement in reaching the valuation. A claim for fraud fails as a matter of law absent 

a showing of justifiable reliance. See Collins, 103 Nev. at 397, 741 P.2d at 821. 

Furthermore, even assuming the trial balances at issue were provided to and relied upon 

by Western Valuation Advisors, Petitioner has utterly failed to allege that any information is false 

or why such information is false. Petitioner’s inability to reconcile financial statements does not 

support a conclusion that some unidentified financial information provided to Western Valuation 

Advisors is somehow false or fraudulent.    

 It should also be noted that the Supplement does not allege that Western Valuation 

Advisors was unable to reconcile the financial information. To the contrary, the fact that Western 

Valuation Advisors ultimately rendered a report demonstrates that it was satisfied with the 

information that was provided. See id. ¶ 31. 

 Finally, Petitioner has gone to great lengths to argue that Mr. Nicolatus was a neutral 

valuation expert and not Petitioner’s expert. (Petitioner’s Surreply to Reply in Support of Motion 

for Judgment on the Pleadings at 6 – 8, on file herein) (arguing, at length, that Mr. Nicolatus is 

not Scott’s expert). If Mr. Nicolatus is not Scott’s agent, Scott cannot maintain a claim of fraud 

because he cannot demonstrate that he relied upon any misrepresentation made to Western 

Valuation Advisors. Pasternack v. Lab. Corp. of Am. Holdings, 27 N.Y.3d 817, 829, 59 N.E.3d 

485, reargument denied, 28 N.Y.3d 956, 60 N.E.3d 421 (2016) (concluding that fraud cannot be 

demonstrated by showing the reliance of a third party, rather than the plaintiff); 37 C.J.S. Fraud § 

59. Thus, in the event Scott prevails on his position that Mr. Nicolatus is a neutral third party and 

he continues to challenge the valuation prepared by Western Valuation Advisors, his fraud claim 

necessarily fails and must be dismissed for this reason alone. See (Supplement ¶¶ 29-39) 

(challenging Mr. Nicolatus’s valuation). 

 Aside from the above, Petitioner also improperly relies upon (and blatantly misrepresents) 

an attorney-client communication that was inadvertently disclosed by Respondents. (Supplement 
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¶ 37) (citing Exhibit 4). On June 5, 2018, Respondents informed Petitioner that this document is 

clearly an attorney-client privileged communication and asked Petitioner’s counsel to confirm that 

all copies have been destroyed. (June 5, 2018, Letter, Exhibit 1). However, Petitioner’s counsel, 

has claimed Respondents waived any privilege associated with this document. (June 18, 2018, 

Letter, Exhibit 2.) Respondents’ adamantly dispute Petitioner’s position, which will likely be an 

issue for the Court to resolve.  

 In short, Petitioner’s fraud claim is untenable. Petitioner’s allegations fall far short of the 

requirement to plead fraud with particularity. See NRCP 9(b). And, the claim is substantively 

deficient for failing to allege that any false information was provided or relied upon to Petitioner’s 

detriment. Petitioner simply alleges that he cannot reconcile the financial statements. Petitioner’s 

failure to plead the precise misrepresentations that occurred, that Respondents knew the 

representations were false, or that Petitioner allegedly relied on such misrepresentation is fatal to 

his claim. See Brown, 97 Nev. at 583–84, 636 P.2d at 874. 

E. The Supplement Fails to State a Viable Claim for Fraud or Negligent 
 Misrepresentation Based on the Inclusion of the AWH Ventures Receivable of the 
 Trust in the Value of the Corporate Interests      
  

 Petitioner next alleges that he was somehow defrauded by Respondents because Western 

Valuation Advisors included the “AWH Ventures receivable in excess of $5 million with the 

combined value of the Corporate Interests.” (Supplement ¶¶ 40-41). According to Petitioner, 

Respondents either directly or indirectly instructed Mr. Nicolatus to include this receivable in his 

valuation. Id. ¶ 40.  Petitioner believes that the receivable should not have been included in the 

calculation. Id. And, Petitioner alleges that the inclusion of the receivable somehow constitutes 

fraud (actual or constructive) and negligent misrepresentation. Id. ¶ 41. Again, however, 

Petitioner’s allegations fall woefully short of an actionable claim for fraud or negligent 

misrepresentation. 

 First, Petitioner has not even come close to pleading an actionable claim for fraud. 

Petitioner has not alleged any misrepresentation or fraudulent omission. To the contrary, 

Petitioner expressly alleges that Mr. Nicolatus was retained to provide an independent valuation. 
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Id. ¶ 29.  Notwithstanding Petitioner’s allegation that Respondents directed Mr. Nicolatus to 

include the receivable, id. ¶ 40, it was Mr. Nicolatus who ultimately determined to include the $5 

million receivable in his valuation report, id. ¶¶ 29, 31. Furthermore, the Purchase Agreement 

clearly identifies this receivable as being purchased by the Siblings’ Trusts (and no other parties).  

(Purchase Agreement at Exhibit A, Exhibit 4 to Petition to Surcharge).  And, contrary to NRCP 

9(b), Petitioner fails to allege the precise person who allegedly directed Mr. Nicolatus and the 

circumstances under which this occurred. 

 Furthermore, Petitioner admits that he was aware Mr. Nicolatus included the $5 million 

receivable in his valuation. Id. ¶ 40-41. The fact that Petitioner disagrees with Mr. Nicolatus 

regarding whether the receivable should be included does not demonstrate that any false 

representation was ever made. Petitioner does not and cannot allege that Respondents somehow 

hid or obscured the basis for Mr. Nicolatus’s report. 

 In addition to failing to allege any false representation, Petitioner also failed to allege 

justifiable reliance. See Collins, 103 Nev. at 397, 741 P.2d at 821. Absent such an allegation, 

Petitioner’s claim fails as a matter of law. 

 In addition to the fraud-based claims, any claim for negligent misrepresentation also fails 

as a matter of law. To plead a viable claim for negligent misrepresentation, Petitioner must allege 

the following: (1) Respondents, in the course of an action in which they had a pecuniary interest, 

failed to exercise reasonable care or competence in obtaining or communicating information to 

Petitioner; (2) Petitioner justifiably relied on this information; and (3) Petitioner suffered damages 

as a result. Barmettler, 114 Nev. at 449, 956 P.2d at 1387 (citing Restatement (Second) of Torts 

552). “In Nevada, negligent misrepresentation and fraudulent misrepresentation both require that 

the defendant supply ‘false information,’ or make a “false representation.” Guilfoyle v. Olde 

Monmouth Stock Transfer Co., 130 Nev. Adv. Op. 78, 335 P.3d 190, 197 (2014) (citations 

omitted). In addition, “[b]oth causes of action require a showing that damages resulted from the 

tortious misrepresentations.” Foster v. Dingwall, 126 Nev. 56, 71, 227 P.3d 1042, 1052 (2010) 

(citation omitted). 

/// 
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In the case sub judice, Petitioner’s negligent misrepresentation claim fails for the same 

reason as his fraud claims. Petitioner simply cannot show any false representation, justifiable 

reliance, or damages. As discussed above, there is no misrepresentation in the valuation report. 

Mr. Nicolatus expressly made the decision to include the receivable as part of the valuation. 

Petitioner’s disagreement with that decision does not mean that the report was somehow procured 

through fraud. Thus, there are no damages resulting from any alleged reliance on an alleged 

misrepresentation. 

F. The Supplement Fails to State a Viable Claim for Fraud or Negligent
Misrepresentation Based on the Preparation of the Trust’s Financials and 
Compilations 

Finally, Petitioner alleges that Respondents defrauded him by misrepresenting the value of 

the Trust’s assets and transactions in the Trust’s financials and compilations. (Supplement ¶ 47.) 

Although Petitioner alleges fraud, Petitioner made no effort whatsoever to plead his claim with 

particularity as required by NRCP 9(b). Petitioner does not even identify the specific document 

that contains a misrepresentation, let alone that Respondents knew the representation was false, 

that Petitioner relied on the misrepresentation, or that Petitioner was damaged as a result of such 

reliance.  

Petitioner alleges that on or about September 27, 2016, “Respondents” submitted 

“accountings” of the Trust for the time period between 1998 and 2013. (Supplement ¶ 43.)   

Petitioner again fails to identify which “Respondents” submitted these accountings to Petitioner.  

Petitioner claims that these new accountings were actually compilations as opposed to audited 

financial statements. Id. Petitioner claims that the information in the “compilations” cannot be 

reconciled with the Trust’s audited financial statements, including the following: “a. Differences 

in the beginning balances of related party loans; b. Differences in the ending balances of related 

party loans; c. Differences in the beginning values of the Colorado land holdings; and d. 

Differences in the ending values of the Colorado land holdings.” Id.   

/// 
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 Petitioner alleges that he subsequently received accountings for the time periods of 2014, 

2015, and 2016. Id. ¶ 45. Petitioner then identifies four issues he is raising with respect to these 

accountings, none of which allege any misrepresentations or fraudulent omissions. Id.  

 Based on these allegations, Petitioner concludes that Respondents made false 

representations in preparing the Trust’s compilations and audited financial statements. Id. ¶ 47. 

Petitioner boldly claims that such false statements were fraudulent and that he suffered damages 

as a result of such statements. Id. 

 Petitioner’s vague allegations of fraud are insufficient to state an actionable claim. As 

discussed throughout this brief, allegations of fraud must be plead with particularity. See NRCP 

9(b). To meet this requirement, “[t]he plaintiff must set forth what is false or misleading about a 

statement, and why it is false. In other words, the plaintiff must set forth an explanation as to why 

the statement or omission complained of was false or misleading. Yourish v. California Amplifier, 

191 F.3d 983, 993 (9th Cir. 1999). 

 In this case, Petitioner has generally alleged that misrepresentations were made 

somewhere in the “compilations” of the Trust for 1998-2013 or somewhere in the audited 

financial statements for 2014, 2015, and 2016. Petitioner makes absolutely no attempt to identify 

the precise statement that was false, how it was false, or that Respondents knew the statement was 

false. Petitioner also fails to allege that he justifiably relied on any alleged false statement and 

how such reliance allegedly damaged Petitioner. 

 Petitioner cannot generally point to nineteen years of financial statements and conclude 

without explanation that some unknown representations in those financial statement are false and 

fraudulent for some unknown reasons. “[A] pleader’s general assertion of his opponent’s ‘fraud’ 

or ‘fraudulent conduct’ or some other conclusory variant serves no informative function for either 

the district court or the defendant and therefore is insufficient under Rule 9(b) to raise an issue as 

to fraud without something more by way of supporting particulars.” 5A Fed. Prac. & Proc. Civ. § 

1298 (3d ed.). Simply put, Petitioner has failed to properly allege facts that, if true, would 

establish a claim for fraud. 

/// 
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 Petitioner’s claim is equally defective with respect to negligent misrepresentation. 

Specifically, Petitioner has failed to put Respondents on notice regarding the misrepresentation 

that was allegedly made. See NRCP 8(a) (requiring a pleading to contain “a short and plain 

statement of the claim showing that the pleader is entitled to relief.”). Based on the allegations in 

the Supplement, Respondents have no idea what false representations were allegedly made in 

nineteen years of financial statements or why such statements are allegedly false. Indeed, 

Petitioner merely alleges that he will disclose “these inconsistencies relating to the financial 

information” during “the ordinary course of litigation.” (Supplement ¶ 46). This is insufficient to 

provide Respondents with notice of the claim for relief. Petitioner’s claim also utterly fails to 

allege justifiable reliance and how Petitioner was allegedly damaged as a result of such reliance. 

See Barmettler, 114 Nev. at 449, 956 P.2d at 1387. 

V. CONCLUSION 

 Based on all the foregoing, Respondents respectfully request that the Court dismiss 

Petitioner’s Supplement and Errata thereto for failure to state a claim upon which relief can be 

granted.  

DATED this 29th day of June 2018. 

CAMPBELL & WILLIAMS  
J. Colby Williams (NSB#5549) 
700 S. Seventh Street 
Las Vegas, NV 89101 
jcw@campbellandwilliams.com  
 
and  
 
DICKINSON WRIGHT, PLLC  

   
Elizabeth Brickfield, Esq. (NSB #6236) 
Joel Z. Schwarz, Esq. (NSB #9181 
8363 W. Sunset Road, Suite 200 
Las Vegas, Nevada 89113 
Telephone: (702) 550-4400  
Facsimile:  (844) 670-6009 
ebrickfield@dickinsonwright.com 
jschwarz@dickinsonwright.com 
Counsel for Respondents 
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CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE 

 
I hereby certify that on the 29th day of June, 2018 I caused a true and correct copy of the 

foregoing MOTION TO DISMISS PETITIONER’S SUPPLEMENT TO PETITION TO 

SURCHARGE TRUSTEE AND FORMER TRUSTEES FOR BREACH OF FIDUCIARY 

DUTIES, CONSPIRACY AND AIDING AND ABETTING; PETITION FOR BREACH 

OF FIDUCIARY DUTY FOR FAILURE TO PROPERTY ACCOUNT; and PETITION 

FOR AN AWARD OF ATTORNEY FEES, ACCOUNTANT FEES AND COSTS to be 

served through the Eighth Judicial District Court’s electronic filing system, to the following 

parties: 

 
Dana Dwiggins, Esq. 
Alexander LeVeque, Esq. 
Tess Johnson, Esq. 
SOLOMON DWIGGINS & FREER, LTD 
9060 West Cheyenne Avenue 

Las Vegas, Nevada  89129 
ddwiggins@sdfnvlaw.com 
aleveque@sdfnvlaw.com 
tjohnson@sdfnvlaw.com  
Counsel for Scott Canarelli      

 

 

 

    
An employee of Dickinson Wright PLLC 
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8 3 6 3  W E S T  S U N S E T  R O A D ,  S U I T E  2 0 0  
L A S  V E G A S ,  N V  8 9 1 1 3 - 2 2 1 0  
T E L E P H O N E :  ( 7 0 2 )  5 5 0 - 4 4 0 0  
F A C S I M I L E :  ( 8 4 4 )  6 7 0 - 6 0 0 9  
h t t p : / / w w w . d i c k i n s o n w r i g h t . c o m  

E L I Z A B E T H  B R I C K F I E L D  
E B R I C K F I E L D @ D I C K I N S O N W R I G H T . C O M  
( 7 0 2 )  5 5 0 - 4 4 6 4  

A R I Z O N A       F L O R I D A       K E N T U C K Y      M I C H I G A N        N E V A D A  

     O H I O       T E N N E S S E E  T E X A S    T O R O N T O  W A S H I N G T O N  D C  

June 5, 2018 

VIA E-MAIL and U.S. Mail 
ddwiggins@sdfnvlaw.com  
tjohnson@sdfnvlaw.com   

Dana Dwiggins, Esq.  
Tess Johnson, Esq.  
Solomon Dwiggins & Freer, Ltd. 
9060 West Cheyenne Avenue 
Las Vegas, NV  89129 

Re: Scott Lyle Graves Canarelli Irrevocable Trust, dated February 24, 1998 (the “Trust”) 
District Court Case No. P-13-078912-T 

Dear Counsel: 

In reviewing your recently-filed Supplement to Petition and the Errata thereto, we see that you have 
attached as an exhibit document Bates No. RESP013284-RESP013288.  This document is clearly an 
attorney-client privileged and attorney work product-protected document which was inadvertently 
produced by Respondents.  By Friday, June 8, 2018, please: 

(1) Confirm your agreement that the document is privileged and that you will enter into a
stipulation to redact all references to the document from your pleading and seal the exhibit in the already-
filed pleading; and 

(2) Return the document to us and confirm that all copies in your possession have been
destroyed. 

Separately, in reviewing documents for Respondents’ supplemental disclosure of today’s date, we 
have identified detailed billings from your firm to Scott which were provided to Mr. Lubbers.  We have not 
reviewed these documents, copies of which are beings sent to you on a second separate FTP link.   Please 
review the documents and advise us of your position regarding the documents at your earliest convenience.   

Lastly, in response to your letter dated June 1, 2018, the Documents Bates Nos. RESP0087114-
RESP0087115 were inaccurately designated as responsive to certain requests for production to Lubbers.  
As we advised you on May 10, 2018, those documents are not responsive and, in addition, are 
communications with counsel during the course of litigation.  As such, they have been removed from 
Lubbers’ most recent supplemental responses.  Moreover, as we previously discussed, the parties in this 
matter are not seeking, and accordingly have not been logging, communications with their counsel during 
the course of the litigation.  Thus, there is no need for Respondents to provide the records or amend their 
privilege log.    

077



D I C K I N S O N  W R I G H T  P L L C  

Dana Dwiggins, Esq. 
Tess Johnson, Esq.  
June 5, 2018 
Page 2 
 
 
 

 

A R I Z O N A       F L O R I D A       K E N T U C K Y       M I C H I G A N        N E V A D A  

      O H I O       T E N N E S S E E       T E X A S         T O R O N T O           W A S H I N G T O N  D C  

 Thank you for your prompt attention to this matter.        

Sincerely, 

 
Elizabeth Brickfield 

 
JZS:lms 
cc:  Joel Z. Schwarz, Esq. 

J. Colby Williams, Esq. 
Jennifer Braster, Esq.  
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Case Number: P-13-078912-T

Electronically Filed
9/4/2018 2:50 PM
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Case Number: P-13-078912-T

Electronically Filed
9/21/2018 10:47 AM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT
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Electronically Filed
9/26/2018 11:25 AM
Steven D. Grierson
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Electronically Filed
5/31/2019 12:42 PM
Steven D. Grierson
CLERK OF THE COURT

131



132



133



 8 



Electronically Filed
10/09/2020 2:22 PM
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DISTRICT COURT
CLARK COUNTY, NEVADA

CASE NO: P-13-078912-TIn the Matter of the Trust of:

Scott Lyle Graves Canarelli 
Irrevocable Trust, dated February 
24, 1998

DEPT. NO.  Department 8

AUTOMATED CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

This automated certificate of service was generated by the Eighth Judicial District 
Court. The foregoing Stipulation and Order was served via the court’s electronic eFile system 
to all recipients registered for e-Service on the above entitled case as listed below:

Service Date: 10/9/2020

Amy Reams areams@naylorandbrasterlaw.com

Jennifer Braster jbraster@naylorandbrasterlaw.com

Dana Dwiggins ddwiggins@sdfnvlaw.com

Craig Friedel cfriedel@sdfnvlaw.com

Joshua Hood jhood@sdfnvlaw.com

Docket . LV_LitDocket@dickinsonwright.com

Gretta McCall . gmccall@sdfnvlaw.com

Matt Wagner . maw@cwlawlv.com

Terrie Maxfield tmaxfield@sdfnvlaw.com

Renee Guastaferro rguastaferro@sdfnvlaw.com

Andrew Sharples asharples@naylorandbrasterlaw.com
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Joel Schwarz jschwarz@dickinsonwright.com

Austrey Dwiggins adwiggins@sdfnvlaw.com

Elizabeth Brickfield ebrickfield@dickinsonwright.com

Erin Hansen ehansen@sdfnvlaw.com

J. Colby Williams jcw@cwlawlv.com

Phil Erwin pre@cwlawlv.com

Justin Bustos jbustos@dickinsonwright.com

Ken Ching kching@dickinsonwright.com

John Chong jyc@cwlawlv.com

Melissa Douglas mdouglas@dlnevadalaw.com

Elizabeth Brickfield ebrickfield@dlnevadalaw.com

Jacob Crawley jcrawley@sdfnvlaw.com

Roberto Campos rcampos@sdfnvlaw.com

Liane Wakayama lkw@hwlawnv.com

Julia Rodionova julia@hwlawnv.com
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